Common and Sum Rate Optimization for Multi-carrier Energy Harvesting Wireless Networks

by

Farid Taei

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

 in

Communications

Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering

University of Alberta

© Farid Taei, 2018

Abstract

Energy harvesting techniques, which exploit ambient energy to power communications devices, have gained increased attention in recent years. Such techniques have emerged as a promising solution for energy-constrained wireless networks, with possible applications in the future Internet of things. The focus of this thesis is on multi-carrier wireless energy harvesting networks (WEHNs) where users adopt a harvest-then-transmit protocol to communicate with an access point. For such networks, we study the subchannel assignment and power allocation at the users to maximize the common rate and sum rate considering the effect of channel fading and path loss on the signals. Both common rate and sum rate optimization problems result in a non-convex mixed binary optimization formulation without a known systematic solution to the best of our knowledge. That being said, we propose multiple heuristic suboptimal solutions for the rate optimization problems providing different trade-offs between computational complexity and performance. The performance of the proposed solutions are evaluated under several WEHN setups through computer simulations.

"Information is the resolution of uncertainty."

Claude E. Shannon

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	1			
2	System Model and Problem Statement					
	2.1 System Model					
		2.1.1 Achievable Data Rates	7			
		2.1.2 Achievable Data Rate Optimization	8			
3	Sum Rate Maximization					
	3.1	Maximum Gain Assignment	10			
	3.2	Balanced Maximum Gain Assignment	11			
	3.3	Partial Sum Rate Incremental Assignment	13			
	3.4	Full Rate Incremental Assignment	13			
	3.5	Simulation Results	15			
4	Cor	nmon Rate Maximization	20			
	4.1	Individual Maximum Gain Assignment	20			
	4.2	Incremental Common Rate Improvement	22			
	4.3	Simulation Results	22			
5	Con	clusion and Future Work	28			

List of Figures

2.1	A WEHN with wireless energy transfer in the downlink and wire-	
	less information transmission in the uplink	6
3.1	Achievable sum rate for different subchannel assignment ap-	
	proaches when $P_{\rm AP} = 10$ dBW	16
3.2	Achievable sum rate for different subchannel assignment ap-	
	proaches when $P_{\rm AP} = 30$ dBW	17
3.3	Number of unused subchannels when $P_{AP} = 10 \text{ dBW}.$	18
3.4	Number of unused subchannels when $P_{\rm AP} = 30$ dBW	19
4.1	Achievable common rate for different subchannel assignment ap-	
	proaches when $P_{\rm AP} = 10$ dBW	24
4.2	Achievable common rate for different subchannel assignment ap-	
	proaches when $P_{\rm AP} = 30$ dBW	25
4.3	Number of unused subchannels when $P_{AP} = 10 \text{ dBW}.$	26
4.4	Number of unused subchannels when $P_{AP} = 30 \text{ dBW}.$	27

List of Symbols

Symbol	Definition	First Use
K	Number of users	5
P_{AP}	AP's energy signal power	5
a_k	Power gain of the downlink channel to user k $\ .$	5
u_k	User k	6
P_k	User k 's harvested power	6
Ν	Number of frequency subchannels	6
\mathcal{A}_n	Set of subchannels assigned to user n	6
$x_{k,n}$	Transmit signal of user k on subchannel n $\ .$	7
$h_{k,n}$	Power gain of subchannel n for user k	7
$n_{\mathrm{AP},n}$	Receiver noise at AP over sunchannel n	7
$R_{k,n}$	Data rate of user k on subchannel n	7
$P_{k,n}$	Power of user k on subchannel n	7
R_k	Data rate of user k at AP \ldots	7

$R_{\rm s}$	Sum rate of the system	•	 	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	7
$R_{\rm c}$	Common rate of the system		 								8

Chapter 1

Introduction

Future wireless networks hold the promise of providing a host of useful services ranging from traffic control [1] and structural health monitoring [2] to smart cities [3], farming [4], and patient tracking [5]. Such a broad range of applications will be made possible via a ubiquitous set of wireless devices equipped with different sensing, computation, and communication abilities. To assure the omnipresence of the network, these devices are often mobile or wellspread over a large area forcing them to rely on batteries as their source of power. However, the power constraint at the devices could potentially limit the applicability scope of the network as batteries' need for frequent charging or replacement is costly or infeasible, compromising the network functionality.

To address the devices' power constraint, in addition to developing more energy-efficient transmission techniques [6], an increasing attention has been paid to developing energy harvesting technologies in recent years. Such technologies harvest the ambient energy of the environment to charge the devices' batteries. There are a variety of energy harvesting technologies that can be leveraged to charge battery-powered devices. Examples are miniature thermoelectric generators that convert the body heat to electricity [7], bimorph piezoelectric generators for exploiting vibrational energy [7], and circuits for harvesting radio frequency (RF) signals. Among these technologies, harvesting RF signals, also known as wireless energy harvesting (WEH), is of special interest as RF signals can be purposefully and directionally sent to the devices to charge their batteries. Further, many RF sources, e.g. on the air TV or wireless cellular signals, are readily available in the environment making WEH even more appealing.

Owing to their potential, application of WEH technologies has been explored in the 5G [8], wireless sensor networks [9], and the future Internet of things (IoT) networks [10]. More specifically, improved energy efficiency with the help of WEH technologies, which could potentially prolong the devices lifetime by a factor of ten, has been foreseen for 5G networks. IoT networks are also a major beneficiary of WEH technologies as their long-term and selfsustainable operation, directly affected by the devices lifetime, are key to their success.

To effectively exploit the limited harvested power in a wireless energy harvesting network (WEHN), optimizing the network resource allocation is of great importance [11, 12, 13]. The optimization includes different aspects of the network, for instance the power harvesting schedule, transmit power allocation, and subchannel assignment in multi-carrier WEHNs. In the following, some of these studies are reviewed.

Authors in [14] introduce harvest-then-transmit protocol where the users (devices) first harvest the energy during a fraction, say T, of the total harvesting and communication time, and then transmit their data during the remaining fraction, i.e. 1 - T, of the time. Then, assuming Rayleigh fading, the outage probability of the system is minimized via optimizing T. For the harvest-then-transmit protocol, [15] finds the optimal value of T that maximizes the sum throughput of the network when users apply time division multiple access (TDMA) in the uplink.

In addition to optimizing the energy harvesting and transmission scheduling, majority of studies have looked into the optimal power allocation for WEHNs. For instance, [16] studies the optimal power allocation to maximize throughput considering the channel conditions and time-varying energy sources. Ding *et al.* [17] focus on an energy harvesting cooperative network where the relay harvests its transmit power from its received signals. Then, power allocation to transmit the messages of source-destination pairs is performed at the relay to minimize the outage probability. The optimal power allocation analysis is extended to cooperative networks where both relay and source nodes harvest wireless energy in [18]. Optimal energy harvesting strategies for distributing cellular data via a wireless-powered collaborative mobile cloud are studied in [11]. More specifically, the authors investigate the optimal scheduling of the data offloading and radio resources, including power allocation, in order to maximize energy efficiency as well as fairness among mobile users.

Some studies have gone one step further and jointly optimize multiple network resources in a WEHN. For instance, a joint power and time allocation to maximize the throughput of a TDMA-based WEHN is performed in [19]. The optimization is done under an average transmit power and maximum transmit power constraint at the access point (AP). Another example is [20] where joint power and time resource allocation is performed to maximize the sum rate of a TDMA-based network.

Joint power and subchannel allocation for a multi-carrier WEHN is explored in [21]. For this, the authors consider a WEHN where a user harvests its energy from an energy AP and transmits its data to another AP, called data AP. Further, it is assumed that the links between the user and both APs are time varying and the user applies orthogonal frequency division multiplexing (OFDM) to combat with the fluctuations in the channel condition. Assuming full channel state information (CSI) knowledge at the user and APs, an algorithm for joint subchannel and power allocation is proposed. In another study [22], joint power and subchannel allocation is studied for a WEHN with full duplex hybrid AP, meaning that the AP can simultaneously transmit energy signal and receive data signals. For this, the authors consider two different scenarios to maximize the network sum rate: perfect self-interference cancellation (SIC), where the hybrid AP fully eliminates its self-interference, and imperfect SIC. It is shown that the sum rate maximization problem for both scenarios is non-convex making the problem very complicated. Nevertheless, the authors propose a Lagrange duality method and an iterative algorithm based on projected gradient to solve for perfect and imperfect SIC scenarios respectively.

In this thesis, we further extend the existing results on the joint subchannel and power allocation for multi-carrier WEHNs. More specifically, we consider a network setup where the users harvest the energy from the signals and communicate to a hybrid AP. The channel quality between the AP and the users on both uplink and downlink is affected by fading and path loss necessitating careful subchannel and power allocation to gain the best performance out of the network. For this setup, we focus on optimal power and subchannel allocation to achieve the maximum sum rate and common rate in the system. Both optimization problems are non-convex and have a mixed binary optimization form. There is no systematic known solution for either of these problems to the best of our knowledge, and thus, we focuses on developing heuristic sub-optimal solutions for them.

The reminder of this thesis is organized as follows: The system model and the formal definition of the studied sum rate and common rate maximization problems are presented in Chapter 2. We present several suboptimal solutions for the sum rate maximization and common rate maximization problems in Chapter 3 and Chapter 4, respectively. Chapter 5 concludes this thesis and discusses ideas for future research directions.

Chapter 2

System Model and Problem Statement

In this chapter, we first describe the system model in detail. Then, we formulate the sum rate and common rate maximization problems for a multi-carrier WEHN [23].

2.1 System Model

Here, we consider a WEHN consisting of K single-antenna energy-harvesting devices (users), namely u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_K , that want to communicate their data to a single-antenna access point (AP). Users adopt a *harvest-then-transmit* protocol [15] where they first harvest power from the AP's energy signal in the downlink and then transmit their message to the AP through the uplink channel (Figure 2.1).

To transmit energy to the users via RF signals, the AP first sends an arbitrary complex random signal x_{AP} with power P_{AP} to the users. The power gain of the downlink channel from the AP to an arbitrary user u_k , $k \in \mathcal{K} = \{1, 2, \ldots, K\}$, is denoted by a_k . This gain incorporates both the wireless channel gain as well as the power harvesting efficiency at u_k . Now,



Figure 2.1: A WEHN with wireless energy transfer in the downlink and wireless information transmission in the uplink.

assuming that the receiver noise power at u_k is significantly smaller than P_{AP} , the harvested power at the user is

$$P_k = a_k P_{\rm AP}.\tag{2.1}$$

After harvesting the power from the AP signal, users enter the data transmission mode. To mitigate the wireless fading effect, users employ a multicarrier transmission scheme, e.g. orthogonal frequency division multiplexing (OFDM) [23], in the uplink phase¹. For this, the uplink transmission bandwidth is divided into N equal-size frequency subchannels. Then, a subchannel assignment strategy is used to assign the subchannels to the users where each subchannel is assigned to only one user to ensure the interference-free uplink transmissions. In the following, we denote the set of subchannels that are assigned to u_n by \mathcal{A}_n . If an arbitrary subchannel $n \in \mathcal{N} = \{1, 2, \ldots, N\}$ is

¹Note that uplink and downlink frequency bands are different to prevent interference.

assigned to u_k , the received signal from u_k at the AP over this subchannel is

$$y_{\mathrm{AP},n} = \sqrt{h_{k,n}} x_{k,n} + n_{\mathrm{AP},n} \tag{2.2}$$

where $x_{k,n}$ is the transmit signal of u_k over subchannel n. Further, $h_{k,n}$ represents the power gain of the link and $n_{AP,n}$ is the receiver additive white Gaussian noise with zero mean and unit power.

2.1.1 Achievable Data Rates

Using the received signal model in (2.2), one can find the received data rate at the AP from u_k on subchannel n as[24]:

$$R_{k,n} = \frac{1}{N} \log_2 \left(1 + h_{k,n} P_{k,n} \right)$$
(2.3)

where $P_{k,n}$ is the transmit power of u_k on subchannel n, i.e. $P_{k,n} = E[x_{k,n}^2]$. Here we assume that the background noise has unit power, and the total bandwidth of all the subchannels is normalized to one. As a result, the overall received data rate from u_k at the AP is

$$R_k = \sum_{n=1}^N R_{k,n} = \frac{1}{N} \log_2 \left(\prod_{n=1}^N (1 + h_{k,n} P_{k,n}) \right).$$
(2.4)

Note that here, if a subchannel, say subchannel n', is not assigned to u_k , $P_{k,n'} = 0$ meaning that $R_{k,n'} = 0$.

Now that we have defined the individual user data rates, we introduce two important data rate measures of the network, namely *sum rate* and *common rate*. The sum rate of the network represents the cumulative data rate performance of the system and is defined as

$$R_{\rm s} = \sum_{k=1}^{K} R_k.$$
 (2.5)

On the other hand, common rate reflects the bottleneck of the data rate performance which is

$$R_{\rm c} = \min_{k \in \mathcal{K}} R_k. \tag{2.6}$$

2.1.2 Achievable Data Rate Optimization

The aforementioned data rates are important measures of the network's throughput performance. As a result, it is desired to maximize $R_{\rm s}$ or $R_{\rm c}$ so that the best performance is achieved given the limited network resources. Note that by maximizing $R_{\rm c}$, we attempt at simultaneously improving the quality of service (QoS) for all users. On the other hand, $R_{\rm s}$ maximization aims to improve the performance of the network as a whole even at the price of sacrificing the QoS of some of the users.

To maximize the data rates, the subchannel assignment as well as the users power allocation on each subchannel are the optimization parameters. That said, one can formulate a joint optimization problem to maximize the sum rate as follows:

$$\max_{\substack{x_{k,n}, P_{k,n} \\ k \in \mathcal{K}, n \in \mathcal{N}}} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{k=1}^{K} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \log_2 \left(1 + x_{k,n} h_{k,n} P_{k,n} \right),$$
(2.7a)

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} P_{k,n} = a_k P_{\rm AP} \quad \forall k \in \mathcal{K},$$
(2.7b)

$$\sum_{k=1}^{K} x_{k,n} = 1 \quad \forall n \in \mathcal{N},$$
(2.7c)

$$x_{k,n} \in \{0,1\} \quad \forall k \in \mathcal{K}, n \in \mathcal{N}.$$
 (2.7d)

In (2.7), $x_{k,n}$ s are binary variables specifying how the subchannels are assigned. More specifically, $x_{k,n} = 1$ means that subchannel n is assigned to user k and $x_{k,n} = 0$ otherwise. Further, the constraint in (2.7b) makes sure that the transmit power of the users is not more than their harvested power while (2.7c) guarantees that each subchannel is assigned to only one user. Similarly, the common rate maximization problem for the aforementioned WEHN is formally defined as:

$$\max_{\substack{x_{k,n}, P_{k,n}\\k\in\mathcal{K}, n\in\mathcal{N}}} \min_{\substack{k\in\mathcal{K}}} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \log_2\left(1 + x_{k,n} h_{k,n} P_{k,n}\right),$$
(2.8a)

$$\sum_{\substack{n=1\\K}}^{N} P_{k,n} = a_k P_{\rm AP} \quad \forall k \in \mathcal{K},$$
(2.8b)

$$\sum_{k=1}^{K} x_{k,n} = 1 \quad \forall n \in \mathcal{N},$$
(2.8c)

$$x_{k,n} \in \{0,1\} \quad \forall k \in \mathcal{K}, n \in \mathcal{N}.$$
 (2.8d)

Both of the above optimization problems are mixed binary continuous optimization problems where the subchannel assignment and user power allocation are jointly optimized. To the best of our knowledge, there is no systematic solution for the optimization problems in (2.7) and (2.8). In the rest of this thesis, we propose heuristic iterative sub-optimal solutions for (2.7) and (2.7). In the following chapters, we discuss these proposed solutions in more detail.

Chapter 3

Sum Rate Maximization

In this chapter, we propose several suboptimal solutions for sum rate the sum rate optimization problem in (2.7). The performance of these approaches are then compared through computer simulations.

Before presenting these approaches, we introduce a matrix $\boldsymbol{G} = [g_{k,n}]_{K \times N}$ whose elements are defined as

$$g_{k,n} = a_k h_{k,n}, \quad \forall k \in \mathcal{K}, n \in \mathcal{N}.$$
 (3.1)

The physical interpretation of $g_{k,n}$ is the end-to-end power gain of subchannel n if user k allocates all of its power to this subchannel. In the rest of this chapter, \boldsymbol{G} is used to explain the proposed solutions.

3.1 Maximum Gain Assignment

In this approach, the subchannel assignment and the user power allocation are done completely in a separate manner. This means that first subchannels are assigned to the users and then power allocation is performed. An arbitrary subchannel, say subchannel n, is assigned to the user who has the largest endto-end power gain on the subchannel. To be more specific, subchannel n is assigned to u_i where

$$i = \underset{k \in \mathcal{K}}{\operatorname{arg\,max}} g_{k,n}. \tag{3.2}$$

Such a subchannel assignment is based on the intuition that assigning subchannel n to the user with the largest channel gain on it will possibly result in the maximum contribution to the sum rate from this subchannel. When all channels are assigned according to (3.2), the transmit power of each user over its assigned subchannels is then determined according to water filling which can achieve the maximal rate of the user given the assigned subchannels. [25]. The pseudocode of the maximum gain assignment approach is presented in Algorithm 1.

Algorithm 1 Maximum gain assignment algorithm.

 $\mathcal{A}_{k} \leftarrow \emptyset, \forall k \in \mathcal{K}$ for $n \in \mathcal{N}$ do $i = \underset{k \in \mathcal{K}}{\operatorname{arg max}} g_{k,n}$ $\mathcal{A}_{i} \leftarrow \mathcal{A}_{i} \cup \{n\}$ for $k \in \mathcal{K}$ do Do water filling for u_{k} given \mathcal{A}_{k}

3.2 Balanced Maximum Gain Assignment

One disadvantage of the previous solution is that it may assign all or a large majority of subchannels to a small group of users. In an extreme case, all subchannels may be assigned to a user, say u_k , whose end-to-end gain, e.g. $g_{k,n}$, is larger than other users over all subchannels. After performing the power allocation, u_k , however, may end up allocating only a very small or even no power to some of these subchannels. This means that some of the subchannels, which could be assigned to other users for increasing the sum rate, are wasted.

To compensate for this disadvantage of the maximum gain subchannel assignment, we suggest another approach that still has a low complexity, through decoupling the subchannel assignment and power allocation, yet tries to assign the subchannels between the users in a more balanced way. For this purpose, we start by assigning the subchannel who has the strongest end-to-end channel gain, i.e. the maximum of G's elements. To be more specific, the strongest subchannel, namely subchannel j, is assigned to user i where

$$(i,j) = \underset{(k,n): k \in \mathcal{K}, n \in \mathcal{N}}{\operatorname{arg\,max}} g_{k,n}.$$
(3.3)

Now, we mark the *i*th row and *j*th column of G as $tabu^1$ row and column. In the next step, the non-tabu subchannel with the strongest end-to-end gain is assigned to the user that has the strongest gain over it. This procedure continues until each user is assigned a subchannel. If there are still subchannels left, i.e. K < N, we first reset the set of tabu rows and proceed with the subchannel assignment over non-tabu subchannels. After assigning all subchannels, users allocate their power according to water filling algorithm.

The balanced maximum gain assignment is presented in Algorithm 2. Here, \mathcal{T}_u and \mathcal{T}_s represent the set of tabu users (rows) and tabu subchannels (columns) respectively.

Algorithm 2 Balanced maximum gain assignment algorithm.

1: $\mathcal{A}_k \leftarrow \emptyset, \forall k \in \mathcal{K}$ 2: $\mathcal{T}_{u}, \mathcal{T}_{s} \leftarrow \emptyset$ 3: while $\mathcal{T}_{s} \neq \mathcal{N}$ do $\underset{(k,n): k \in \mathcal{K} \setminus \mathcal{T}_{\mathbf{r}}, n \in \mathcal{N} \setminus \mathcal{T}_{\mathbf{c}}}{\operatorname{arg\,max}} g_{k,n}$ (i,j) =4: $\mathcal{A}_i \leftarrow \mathcal{A}_i \cup \{j\}$ 5: $\mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{u}} \leftarrow \mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{u}} \cup \{i\}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{s}} \leftarrow \mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{s}} \cup \{j\}$ if $\mathcal{T}_{\mathrm{u}} = \mathcal{K}$ then 6: 7: $\mathcal{T}_{u} \gets \varnothing$ 8: 9: for $k \in \mathcal{K}$ do Do water filling for u_k given \mathcal{A}_k 10:

¹Inspired by tabu search algorithm [26].

3.3 Partial Sum Rate Incremental Assignment

Both of the previous approaches fully decouple the subchannel assignment and power allocation. While it has been compensated for to some extent in Algorithm 2, such decoupling has the risk of wasting the subchannels after performing power allocation. To address this shortcoming of the previous approaches, we present another suboptimal solution for the sum rate optimization problem that incorporates the subchannel power allocation into the subchannel assignment. This is done through a greedy algorithm where for assigning each new subchannel, a power allocation for all previously assigned subchannels is needed. At each iteration of the greedy algorithm, the goal is to assign a new subchannel in a way that the maximum increase in the sum rate is achieved.

First, we start from an arbitrary subchannel, say subchannel n. Then, we find the user that gives the highest sum rate if only this subchannel was used. This is equivalent to picking the user that has the largest $g_{k,n}$ for $k \in \mathcal{K}$. To continue, we pick another subchannel and assign it to the user that gives the maximum increase in the sum rate considering the first subchannel assignment. The subchannel assignments continue in the same fashion so that each subchannel is assigned to the user that produces the largest increase in the sum rate considering all previous subchannel assignments. The pseudocode of this approach is presented in Algorithm 3. In this algorithm, $R_{\rm s}(k, n)$ represent the sum rate of the system assuming subchannel n is assigned to user k given all previous subchannel assignments. Here, the subchannel assignment and power allocation for all users and subchannels finish at the same time.

3.4 Full Rate Incremental Assignment

The order of picking the subchannels to be assigned affects the output sum rate of the partial sum rate incremental subchannel assignment. While picking subchannels could be done randomly, picking them smartly could result in a

Algorithm 3 Partial rate incremental assignment algorithm.

1: $\mathcal{A}_{k} \leftarrow \emptyset, \forall k \in \mathcal{K}$ 2: $\mathcal{T}_{c} \leftarrow \emptyset$ 3: while $\mathcal{T}_{c} \neq \mathcal{N}$ do 4: Pick a subchannel $n \in \mathcal{N} - \mathcal{T}_{c}$ 5: $i = \operatorname*{arg\,max}_{k \in \mathcal{K}} R_{s}(k, n)$ 6: $\mathcal{T}_{c} \leftarrow \mathcal{T}_{c} \cup \{n\}$ 7: $\mathcal{A}_{i} \leftarrow \mathcal{A}_{i} \cup \{n\}$

higher sum rate. For this purpose, we present another subchannel and power allocation strategy called full sum rate incremental subchannel assignment.

In this approach, at each iteration of the algorithm, the subchannel that results in the maximum sum rate increase is selected. For this, all the unassigned subchannels are first scanned at each iteration. The scan of each subchannel consists of evaluating the sum rate increase for all users by doing the power allocation and sum rate calculation for each user considering all previous subchannel assignments. After scanning all unassigned subchannels, the subchannel and its associated user for the maximum sum rate increase are identified. The pseudocode of this approach is presented in Algorithm 4. Similar to partial sum rate incremental approach, both subchannel assignment and power allocation are finished at the same time.

Algorithm 4 Full rate incremental assignment algorithm.

```
1: \mathcal{A}_{k} \leftarrow \emptyset, \forall k \in \mathcal{K}

2: \mathcal{T}_{c} \leftarrow \emptyset

3: while \mathcal{T}_{c} \neq \mathcal{N} do

4: (i, j) = \underset{(k,n): k \in \mathcal{K}, n \in \mathcal{N} \setminus \mathcal{T}_{c}}{\operatorname{arg\,max}} R_{s}(k, n)

5: \mathcal{T}_{c} \leftarrow \mathcal{T}_{c} \cup \{j\}

6: \mathcal{A}_{i} \leftarrow \mathcal{A}_{i} \cup \{j\}
```

3.5 Simulation Results

In this section, we compare the sum rate performance of the aforementioned subchannel assignment approaches. For this, we consider a WEHN where the users have different distance from the access point. More specifically, the distance of an arbitrary user i from the access point follows a uniform distribution with a support over [1, 2). To account for the pass loss, we assume that the harvested power at the users is inversely proportional to their squared distance from the AP. Further, we consider a non-light-of-sight environment. and thus, the effect of the multipath fading on the channel gain the effect of the multipath fading on the channel gain follows a Rayleigh distribution. The following results are averaged over 100 channel realizations.

The achievable sum rate results for N = 100 sunchannels and different number of users, when the AP transmit power is $P_{AP} = 10$ dBW, are presented in Figure 3.1. In this figure, the *x*-axis represents the normalized number of users, i.e. $\frac{K}{N}$. As expected, full rate incremental subchannel assignment shows the best performance followed by partial rate incremental subchannel assignment. Further, it can be seen that balanced maximum gain assignment outperforms the plain maximum gain assignment in terms of the sum rate. Overall, the achievable sum rate expresses an increasing trend over the normalized number of users.

The achievable sum rate results for N = 100 subchannels and $P_{\rm AP} = 30$ dBW is presented in Figure 3.2. Again, as expected, full rate incremental and maximum gain assignment respectively show the best and worst performance among the aforementioned channel assignments.

We also study the network resources usage efficiency by looking into the number of subchannels that are actually used in the uplink for data transmission. By this, we mean subchannels that are assigned a non-zero transmit power at the end of the subchannel assignment and power allocation. The



Figure 3.1: Achievable sum rate for different subchannel assignment approaches when $P_{\rm AP}=10$ dBW.



Figure 3.2: Achievable sum rate for different subchannel assignment approaches when $P_{\rm AP}=30$ dBW.



Figure 3.3: Number of unused subchannels when $P_{AP} = 10$ dBW.

subchannel usage results for $P_{\rm AP} = 10$ dBW is presented in Figure 3.3. As seen, full rate incremental assignment utilizes almost all of the subchannels to achieve its superior sum rate performance over other approaches. On the other hand, at smaller number of users, a significant number of subchannels are left unused for the other three approaches.

The subchannel usage results for $P_{\rm AP} = 30$ dBW are shown in Figure 3.4. In this case, almost all of the subchannels are used by all subchannel assignment methods. This results from the fact that users harvest more power compared to $P_{\rm AP} = 10$ dBW (on average 100 times more), and hence, are able to allocate power to more subchannels.



Figure 3.4: Number of unused subchannels when $P_{\rm AP} = 30$ dBW.

Chapter 4

Common Rate Maximization

While the goal of the sum rate maximization is to improve the data rate performance of the system as a whole, in common rate maximization, the individual data rate performance of the users are of more importance. For this to happen, one needs to ensure that all users get access to a fair share of the network resources. This mostly contradicts with the sum rate maximization approaches presented in the previous chapter where the users with the strongest channel are likely to receive most, if not all, the subchannels.

That being said, in the following, we present appropriate approaches for common rate maximization. The main idea behind all these approaches is to assign better subchannels to the users that have harvested less energy in the energy harvesting phase to boost their achievable data rates. Similar to sum rate, in the following we present approaches where the subchannel assignment and power allocation are decoupled as well as approaches where they are done simultaneously.

4.1 Individual Maximum Gain Assignment

In this approach, we first sort the users in terms of their harvested power. As for each user u_k , its harvested power P_k is proportional to a_k , which means that the users are basically sorted in terms of a_k s. Without loss of generality, let us assume that the users are labeled such that $a_1 \leq a_2 \leq \ldots \leq a_K$. Here, u_1 determines the bottleneck of the common rate and any improvement in its data rate directly translates into an increase in the common rate. To compensate for the lower harvested power by u_1 compared to the other users, we assign the stronger uplink subchannels to it. This is achieved by assigning the best M subchannels to the user and then we continue by assigning chunks of Msubchannels to the rest of the users.

More specifically, the first best M subchannels are assigned to u_1 . u_2 is the user with the second lowest harvested power and thus should receive strong subchannels. That being said, the best M subchannels of the remaining subchannels will be assigned to u_2 . The next set of subchannels will be assigned to u_3 and so on. To ensure that no user remains without being assigned a subchannel, M is chosen such that $1 \leq M \leq \lfloor \frac{N}{K} \rfloor$. If after assigning M subchannels to all users, there are still unassigned subchannels left, the algorithm proceeds by assigning the subchannels to u_1 again and continues in the same fashion.

The pseudo code representation of the individual maximum gain assignment is outlined in Algorithms 5. Note that the choice of M affects the performance of this subchannel assignment approach and could be further optimized to reach the best performance by the system.

Algorithm 5 Individual maximum gain assignment algorithm.

```
1: \mathcal{A}_k \leftarrow \varnothing, \forall k \in \mathcal{K}

2: k \leftarrow 1

3: \mathcal{T}_c \leftarrow \varnothing

4: while \mathcal{T}_c \neq \mathcal{N} do

5: for i \in \{1, 2, \dots, M\} do

6: j = \underset{n \in \mathcal{N} \setminus \mathcal{T}_c}{\operatorname{sgmax}} h_{k,n}

7: \mathcal{T}_c \leftarrow \mathcal{T}_c \cup \{j\}

8: \mathcal{A}_k \leftarrow \mathcal{A}_k \cup \{j\}

9: k \leftarrow k + 1 \mod K
```

4.2 Incremental Common Rate Improvement

In this approach, we assign M subchannels to a user at each iteration similar to the individual maximum gain assignment. However, it is different from individual maximum gain assignment in the sense that the subchannel assignment and power allocation are done simultaneously.

To explain the incremental common rate improvement in more detail, the approach allocates M subchannels to the user who has the lowest data rate among the users. To assign the first set of M subchannels when the data rates of all users are zero, the user who has the least harvested power, i.e. u_1 , is selected. To decide on which M subchannels should be assigned to u_1 , all possible M-subsets of the subchannels will be tested. The subset that results in the maximum data rate for u_1 , considering water filling for the power allocation, is then selected and assigned to u_1 . In the next iteration of the algorithm, the second user with the least harvested power, i.e. u_2 , is selected who then receives an M-subset of unassigned subchannels. This continues until all users are assigned M subchannels.

From this point on, the user with the smallest data rate, i.e. the user imposing the bottleneck on the common rate, say u_k , is selected at each iteration of the approach. The next M subchannels are assigned to u_k so that it observes the maximum increase in its data rate considering water filling power allocation over the new and previously assigned subchannels. The approach continues assigning subchannels to the users in the same way until all subchannels are assigned. The pseudocode of the incremental common rate improvement approach is presented in Algorithm 6.

4.3 Simulation Results

In this section, we compare the sum rate performance of the aforementioned subchannel assignment approaches. For this, we consider a WEHN with a setup

Algorithm 6 Incremental improvement algorithm.

1: $\mathcal{A}_k \leftarrow \emptyset, \forall k \in \mathcal{K}$ 2: $\mathcal{T}_{c} \leftarrow \emptyset$ 3: while $\mathcal{T}_{c} \neq \mathcal{N}$ do if $\exists \mathcal{A}_k = \emptyset$ then 4: $i = \arg \min a_k$ 5: $k \in \mathcal{K}, \mathcal{A}_k = \emptyset$ else 6: $i = \underset{k \in \mathcal{K}}{\operatorname{arg\,min}} \ R_k$ 7: for $m \in \{1, 2, ..., M\}$ do 8: $j = \arg \max R_i$ 9: $n \in \mathcal{N} \setminus \mathcal{T}_c$ $\mathcal{T}_{c} \leftarrow \mathcal{T}_{c} \cup \{j\}$ 10: $\mathcal{A}_k \leftarrow \mathcal{A}_k \cup \{j\}$ 11:

similar to what we considered for our sum rate study.

The achievable common rate results for N = 100 sunchannels and different number of users, when the AP transmit power is $P_{\rm AP} = 10$ dBW, are presented in Figure 4.1. In this case, maximum gain and rate incremental assignments result in similar common rate performance. This is possibly because of a bottleneck user, i.e. a user with low downlink and/or uplink channel gains, that limits the common rate regardless of the subchannel assignment strategy.

Similar results are presented for $P_{\rm AP} = 30$ dBW in Figure 4.2. In this case, the rate incremental approach provides a noticeable improvement over the subchannel assignment based on the maximum gain. This is because of the larger harvested power at the users making the subchannel and power allocation more relevant to the data rate performance of the network.

We also present the result for the number of unused network subchannels in Figure 4.3 and Figure 4.4. While the incremental improvement approach may not provide a significant rate enhancement over the maximum gain assignment, it achieves similar to even better common rate with using a significantly less number of subchannels. Hence, it is more efficient in terms of the subchannel usage.



Figure 4.1: Achievable common rate for different subchannel assignment approaches when $P_{\rm AP}=10$ dBW.



Figure 4.2: Achievable common rate for different subchannel assignment approaches when $P_{\rm AP}=30$ dBW.



Figure 4.3: Number of unused subchannels when $P_{\rm AP} = 10$ dBW.



Figure 4.4: Number of unused subchannels when $P_{\rm AP} = 30$ dBW.

Chapter 5

Conclusion and Future Work

The achievable date rate of a multi-carrier WEHN is directly affected by the power allocation and subchannel assignment at the users. As a result, the power allocation and subchannel assignment at the users should be jointly optimized to reach the highest data rate performance in the network. For this purpose, we formulated two mixed binary optimization problems to maximize the sum rate and common rate of a WEHN, respectively. There is no systematic known solution for either of these problems to the best of our knowledge, and thus, we focused on developing heuristic suboptimal solutions for them.

To be more specific, we proposed two different sets of iterative suboptimal solutions. The first set of solutions were sequential meaning that instead of directly tackling the difficult joint optimization problems, we solved them sequentially by performing the subchannel assignment first and then power allocation later. The second set of solutions were incremental meaning that the subchannel assignment and power allocation were performed jointly. Simulation results were presented for different network setups to compare the performance of both sets of proposed solutions. It was observed that the incremental solutions result in higher rates for both common rate and sum rate, albeit at the price of higher computational complexity.

Another observation that we made from the simulation results was that

some of the assigned subchannels were allocated no power for data transmissions. This is wasteful of network resources as these subchannels could be assigned to other users to further boost the data rate of the systems. An approach to tackle this issue is to check for the assigned subchannels whose assigned power is zero at each iteration and return them back to the pool of unassigned subchannels. Such study could be considered for future work.

In addition in this work, we assumed that equal time was dedicated for energy harvesting and data communication at the users. The performance of the network can be further improved through an adaptive scheduling where the energy harvesting and communication time slots are assigned according to the uplink and downlink channel gains. Intuitively, if the downlink channel gains is relatively smaller than the uplink channel gains, one can assign a longer time slot for energy harvesting and a shorter time slot for data communication to improve the achievable data rate. A joint scheduling, sub-channel assignment and power allocation could be considered as a future research direction to further enhance the sum rate and common rate of WEHNs.

Bibliography

- Jian Qiao, Xuemin Sherman Shen, Jon W Mark, Qinghua Shen, Yejun He, and Lei Lei. Enabling device-to-device communications in millimeter-wave 5g cellular networks. *IEEE Communications Magazine*, 53(1):209–215, 2015.
- [2] Ahmed Abdelgawad and Kumar Yelamarthi. Structural health monitoring: Internet of things application. In *Circuits and Systems (MWSCAS), 2016 IEEE 59th International Midwest Symposium on*, pages 1–4. IEEE, 2016.
- [3] Andrea Zanella, Nicola Bui, Angelo Castellani, Lorenzo Vangelista, and Michele Zorzi. Internet of things for smart cities. *IEEE Internet of Things journal*, 1(1):22–32, 2014.
- [4] Prem Prakash Jayaraman, Ali Yavari, Dimitrios Georgakopoulos, Ahsan Morshed, and Arkady Zaslavsky. Internet of things platform for smart farming: Experiences and lessons learnt. Sensors, 16(11):1884, 2016.
- [5] Vladimir Oleshchuk and Rune Fensli. Remote patient monitoring within a future 5g infrastructure. Wireless Personal Communications, 57(3):431– 439, 2011.
- [6] Zhengguo Sheng, Shusen Yang, Yifan Yu, Athanasios Vasilakos, Julie Mccann, and Kin Leung. A survey on the ietf protocol suite for the internet of things: Standards, challenges, and opportunities. *IEEE Wireless Communications*, 20(6):91–98, 2013.

- [7] Loreto Mateu, Moll Echeto, and Francisco de Borja. Review of energy harvesting techniques and applications for microelectronics. International Society for Optical Engineering, 2005.
- [8] Ekram Hossain and Monowar Hasan. 5g cellular: key enabling technologies and research challenges. *IEEE Instrumentation & Measurement Magazine*, 18(3):11–21, 2015.
- [9] Moslem Noori and Masoud Ardakani. Efficient multiway relaying for data sharing in energy harvesting sensor networks. *Journal of Sensors*, 2015, 2015.
- [10] Pouya Kamalinejad, Chinmaya Mahapatra, Zhengguo Sheng, Shahriar Mirabbasi, Victor CM Leung, and Yong Liang Guan. Wireless energy harvesting for the internet of things. *IEEE Communications Magazine*, 53 (6):102–108, 2015.
- [11] Zheng Chang, Jie Gong, Yingyu Li, Zhenyu Zhou, Tapani Ristaniemi, Guangming Shi, Zhu Han, and Zhisheng Niu. Energy efficient resource allocation for wireless power transfer enabled collaborative mobile clouds. *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, 34(12):3438–3450, 2016.
- [12] Ali Arshad Nasir, Duy Trong Ngo, Xiangyun Zhou, Rodney A Kennedy, and Salman Durrani. Joint resource optimization for multicell networks with wireless energy harvesting relays. *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, 65(8):6168–6183, 2016.
- [13] Kaya Tutuncuoglu and Aylin Yener. Optimum transmission policies for battery limited energy harvesting nodes. *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, 11(3):1180–1189, 2012.
- [14] Shixin Luo, Rui Zhang, and Teng Joon Lim. Optimal save-then-transmit

protocol for energy harvesting wireless transmitters. *IEEE Transactions* on Wireless Communications, 12(3):1196–1207, 2013.

- [15] Hyungsik Ju and Rui Zhang. Throughput maximization in wireless powered communication networks. *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, 13(1):418–428, 2014.
- [16] Chin Keong Ho and Rui Zhang. Optimal energy allocation for wireless communications with energy harvesting constraints. *IEEE Transactions* on Signal Processing, 60(9):4808–4818, 2012.
- [17] Zhiguo Ding, Samir M Perlaza, Inaki Esnaola, and H Vincent Poor. Power allocation strategies in energy harvesting wireless cooperative networks. *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, 13(2):846–860, 2014.
- [18] Xueqing Huang and Nirwan Ansari. Optimal cooperative power allocation for energy-harvesting-enabled relay networks. *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, 65(4):2424–2434, 2016.
- [19] Zoran Hadzi-Velkov, Ivana Nikoloska, George K Karagiannidis, and Trung Q Duong. Wireless networks with energy harvesting and power transfer: Joint power and time allocation. *IEEE Signal Processing Letters*, 23(1):50–54, 2016.
- [20] Hoon Lee, Kyoung-Jae Lee, Hanjin Kim, Bruno Clerckx, and Inkyu Lee. Resource allocation techniques for wireless powered communication networks. In *Communications (ICC)*, 2016 IEEE International Conference on, pages 1–6. IEEE, 2016.
- [21] Xun Zhou, Chin Keong Ho, and Rui Zhang. Wireless power meets energy harvesting: A joint energy allocation approach in OFDM-based system. *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, 15(5):3481–3491, 2016.

- [22] Hanjin Kim, Hoon Lee, Minki Ahn, Han-Bae Kong, and Inkyu Lee. Joint subcarrier and power allocation methods in full duplex wireless powered communication networks for ofdm systems. *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, 15(7):4745–4753, 2016.
- [23] Derrick Wing Kwan Ng, Ernest S Lo, and Robert Schober. Wireless information and power transfer: Energy efficiency optimization in ofdma systems. *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, 12(12):6352– 6370, 2013.
- [24] D. Tse and P. Viswanath. Fundamentals of Wireless Communication. Cambridge University Press, 2005.
- [25] Kibeom Seong, Mehdi Mohseni, and John M Cioffi. Optimal resource allocation for OFDMA downlink systems. In *IEEE International Symposium* on Information Theory, pages 1394–1398. IEEE, 2006.
- [26] Fred Glover and Manuel Laguna. Tabu search. In Handbook of Combinatorial Optimization, pages 3261–3362. Springer, 2013.